No. 46384-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II 2014 SEP 25 PM 1: 13 STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPUTY

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and NORTHWEST KIDNEY CENTERS,

Respondents.

OPENING BRIEF OF DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.

James M. Beaulaurier WSBA #7811 LAW OFFICE OF JAMES M. BEAULAURIER 1700 Seventh Avenue Suite 2270 Seattle, WA 98101-1332 (T) 206.340.1010 Brian-W. Grimm WSBA #29619 Kathleen M. O'Sullivan WSBA #27850 PERKINS COIE LLP 1201 Third Avenue Suite 4900 Seattle, WA 98101-3099 (T) 206.359.8000 (F) 206.359.9000

Attorneys for Appellant, DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc.

I. INTRODUCTION

•

This judicial review proceeding relates to the Certificate of Need ("CON") decision of the Washington State Department of Health (the "Department") to approve the CON application of DaVita HealthCare Partners Inc. ("DaVita") to establish a new kidney disease treatment center in Des Moines and to deny the competing CON application of Northwest Kidney Centers ("NKC") to expand its existing kidney disease treatment center in SeaTac. DaVita and NKC are well-regarded providers of dialysis services and the Department determined that the proposed DaVita and NKC projects each satisfied all applicable CON requirements. Because the number of dialysis stations projected to be needed in the planning area would not allow for approval of both projects, however, the Department was required to, and did, apply the regulatory "tie-breakers" set forth in WAC 246-310-288 to determine which application would be approved. DaVita won under the tie-breakers, and the Department accordingly approved DaVita's application and denied NKC's competing application.

This decision was reversed by Health Law Judge Frank Lockhart (the "HLJ"), the presiding officer in the subsequent adjudicative proceeding commenced by NKC. The HLJ's reversal was based on his

-1-

erroneous legal conclusion that he was not required to use the regulatory tie-breaker standards as the basis to compare the applications.

The HLJ instead compared the projects based on the applicants' respective projections of revenue per treatment, effectively a function of the reimbursement rates DaVita and NKC have negotiated with commercial insurers, and the applicants' respective capital budgets. The HLJ determined that on average DaVita would receive higher reimbursement from commercial insurers than would NKC. The HLJ approved NKC's application and denied DaVita's application on the ground that NKC would provide lower-cost dialysis, as measured by this revenue-per-treatment statistic, and the ground that expanding NKC's existing facility would cost NKC less than building DaVita's new facility would cost DaVita.

The tie-breaker standards set forth in WAC 246-310-288 balance several criteria, including the scope of services to be provided in a facility, capital costs, geographic diversity of facilities, and provider choice. These are the criteria selected by the Department, based on input from dialysis providers during the rulemaking process, and adopted in regulation. Capital cost is worth one tie-breaker point out of nine; commercial reimbursement rates are not part of the analysis at all, for good reasons. The HLJ's conclusion that he could disregard the tie-breaker regulation,

-2-

and instead conduct a comparative evaluation based on ad hoc criteria, constituted legal error.

DaVita respectfully requests that the Court determine that the Department must, as a matter of law, use the tie-breaker regulation as the basis to compare competing kidney dialysis facility applications. The HLJ's order to the contrary should be set aside and the Department's original decision approving DaVita's application and denying NKC's application, based on the regulatory tie-breakers, should be reinstated.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The HLJ erred by denying DaVita's application, and approving NKC's application, based on a comparison of the projects under criteria other than those set forth in WAC 246-310-288.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. Whether the Department must choose between competing CON applications to establish or expand kidney disease treatment centers based on the regulatory tie-breaker criteria set forth in WAC 246-310-288, or whether the Department may instead compare such applications based on ad hoc criteria.

B. Whether a proposed kidney disease treatment center may be denied as having an unreasonable impact on the costs and charges for health services, under WAC 246-310-220(2), because its capital cost

-3-

and/or projected revenue per treatment is higher than that of a competing application, rather than by a comparison of the projects under the tiebreaker criteria set forth in WAC 246-310-288.

C. Whether a proposed kidney disease treatment center may be denied as an inferior alternative, under WAC 246-310-240(1), because its capital cost and/or projected revenue per treatment is higher than that of a competing application, rather than by a comparison of the projects under the tie-breaker criteria set forth in WAC 246-310-288.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Kidney dialysis saves lives.

The loss of kidney function is normally irreversible. End-Stage Renal Disease ("ESRD") is a stage of advanced kidney impairment. There are approximately 382,000 ESRD patients in the United States. For these individuals, there are only two methods of sustaining life: dialysis or kidney transplantation. AR 2098.

Dialysis refers to the removal of toxins, fluids, and salt from the blood of ESRD patients by artificial means. ESRD patients generally require dialysis at least three times a week for the rest of their lives. AR 2098. Each treatment takes about four hours. AR 1630.

-4-

B. Medicare covers almost all ESRD dialysis patients.

Since 1972, the federal government has provided universal coverage for dialysis treatment under the Medicare ESRD program, regardless of age or financial circumstances. Under this system, Congress establishes Medicare rates for dialysis treatments, related supplies, lab tests and medications. AR 2098. For a patient not covered by an employer group health plan, Medicare becomes the primary payor either immediately or after a three-month waiting period. For a patient covered by an employer group health plan, Medicare generally becomes the primary payor after thirty-three months, which includes the three-month waiting period, or earlier if the patient's employer group health plan coverage terminates. AR 2102.

Thus, Medicare is the primary payor for almost all ESRD patients, except for the relatively short period of time where a commercial policy remains the primary payor before Medicare takes over. Importantly, this means that the reimbursement rates for the vast majority of dialysis treatments are set by Congress. At DaVita, which provides dialysis to approximately 125,000 patients nationwide, approximately 80% of patients are covered by Medicare and another 9% are covered by other government-based programs. AR 2098.

C. Certificate of Need approval is required to establish or expand kidney dialysis facilities.

In Washington, healthcare providers must obtain CON approval from the Department before establishing or expanding certain types of healthcare facilities or providing certain types of healthcare services. *See* RCW 70.38.105(4); WAC 246-310-020(1). The Department will issue a CON only if it determines that the proposed facility or service is needed by the population to be served and satisfies certain other criteria. *See* RCW 70.38.115(2); WAC 246-310-200.

Kidney dialysis facilities are among the types of healthcare facilities requiring CON approval. *See* RCW 70.38.105(4)(a), RCW 70.38.025(6), WAC 246-310-020(1)(a), WAC 246-310-010(26); *see also* WAC 246-310-280(6) & (7) (defining "kidney dialysis facility"). Applications to establish kidney dialysis facilities are reviewed on one of four quarterly review cycles, which allows for concurrent review of competing applications to meet the same need in a particular planning area. *See* WAC 246-310-282.

D. The Department has adopted a "tie-breaker" rule governing competing kidney dialysis facility applications.

The Department is required to evaluate CON applications based on the standards set forth in its regulations. *See* WAC 246-310-200(2)(a)(i). All CON applications, not just kidney dialysis facility applications,

-6-

generally are reviewed under the basic criteria of "need," "financial feasibility," "structure and process of care," and "cost containment." *See* WAC 246-310-200 (bases for findings); WAC 246-310-210 (need); WAC 246-310-220 (financial feasibility); WAC 246-310-230 (structure and process of care); WAC 246-310-240 (cost containment). However, the Department also has adopted more specific criteria for review of certain types of projects, including kidney dialysis facilities. *See* WAC 246-310-280 *et seq*.

Until recently, the regulations governing kidney dialysis facility applications did not provide specific standards for comparative evaluation of two or more competing applications—i.e., the criteria on which the Department should choose between two or more qualifying projects, when there is not sufficient projected need to warrant approval of both. Therefore, the Department relied upon the general CON criterion that "[s]uperior alternatives, in terms of cost, efficiency, or effectiveness, are not available or practicable" to determine which project should be approved. WAC 246-310-240(1). As might be expected, evaluating competing applications under a general "superiority" standard resulted, in practice, in ad hoc standards.

This Court's opinion in *DaVita, Inc. v. Department of Health*, 137 Wn. App. 174, 151 P.3d 1095 (2007), arose out of just such a situation. In

-7-

an evaluation of the competing applications of DaVita and Olympic Peninsula Kidney Center ("OPKC") to establish new dialysis facilities, the Department determined that both applications satisfied all CON criteria, and therefore it had to determine which was "superior." The Department determined that the DaVita project was superior to the OPKC project, because it would add a new choice of provider in the planning area. *See DaVita*, 137 Wn. App. at 178.

The HLJ in the adjudicative proceeding commenced by OPKC determined that, to the contrary, the OPKC project was superior to the DaVita project, because commercial reimbursement rates and operating expenses would be lower at OPKC's facility than at DaVita's facility and OPKC could open a new facility more quickly than could DaVita. *See id.* at 179-80. Because the HLJs were, at that time, the Department's final decision-makers on CON applications, the superiority criteria selected by the HLJ trumped the superiority criteria selected by the Department in its evaluation. *See id.* at 186.

This historical approach—in which comparative review of competing kidney dialysis facility applications was conducted on ad hoc standards; applicants could not know on what basis competing applications would be evaluated; and the criteria varied from application to application and from decision-maker to decision-maker—persisted for years. It finally was eliminated for kidney disease treatment center applications, or should have been, when the Department adopted WAC 246-310-288, which became effective on January 1, 2007.

The Department's tie-breaker rule identifies nine objective criteria, each of which is worth one point. *See* WAC 246-310-288. They are (1) provision of training services; (2) provision of a private room for patients requiring isolation; (3) provision of a permanent bed station; (4) provision of an evening shift; (5) provision of the number of stations projected to be needed; (6) role as a historical provider; (7) lowest capital expenditure; (8) geographic diversity; and (9) provider choice. *See id.* Whichever applicant receives more points is awarded the CON. If the applicants remain tied after application of the tie-breakers, the Department will approve both applications and award stations as equally as possible among them, without exceeding the total number of stations projected for the planning area. *See id.*

The Department's rulemaking history underscores that the tiebreaker rule was adopted to provide "clarity and consistency for applicants because they will know how stations will be awarded in the event of a tied decision." *See* Significant Analysis, Rules Concerning Kidney Dialysis Treatment Centers, Revision of WAC 246-[3]10-010 and 280, July 2006, at 5-6; *see also* The Report of the ESRD Methodology Stakeholders Committee to the Washington State Department of Health, December 9, 2005, at 4 (recommending that "[t]he decision-making criteria that are applied in comparative processes are clear, delineated in advance to the applicants and affected parties, and commonly understood by all").¹

The adoption of the tie-breaker rule accomplished this. As the Department explained in its evaluation in this matter, "[t]he tie-breaker criteria are objective measures used to compare competing projects and make the determination between two or more approvable projects which is the best alternative." AR 2448. The Department accordingly uses the tie-breakers as the exclusive basis to compare competing kidney dialysis facility applications. AR 2449-50. This is in contrast to some other types of CON applications, e.g., applications to build new hospitals, which still must be compared under the general "superiority" standard. AR 1513.

E. DaVita and NKC each apply to meet the need for additional dialysis stations in King County Planning Area #4.

King County Planning Area #4 is a geographic area south of Seattle containing Burien, Des Moines, Normandy Park, SeaTac, and Tukwila. *See* WAC 246-310-280(9)(a) (defining planning area). More than 100,000 people live in the planning area. AR 1791. It currently is

¹ Palmer Pollock, NKC's Vice-President of Planning, was a member of the committee that made this recommendation. *See id.* at 2; *see also* Application Record ("AR") 1558-59 (Mr. Pollock's hearing testimony) (Q: "And isn't it true that the committee tried to identify what it considered to be the most important factors in evaluating one applicant against another? A: "I believe that's a fair statement.").

served by a single kidney disease treatment center, NKC's 25-station facility in SeaTac. AR 2430. Based on the Department's projections, five additional dialysis stations are needed in the planning area. AR 2429-30.

On May 31, 2011, DaVita and NKC each submitted CON applications to meet this need. AR 2426. DaVita amended its application on June 30, 2011. AR 2426. DaVita applied to build a new, 5-station facility in Des Moines. AR 1773-2293. NKC applied to add five stations to its existing facility in SeaTac. AR 2477-2616.

Between July 1 and September 15, 2011, the Department requested and obtained additional information from DaVita and NKC relating to their respective applications. AR 2296-2307; 2621-31. The Department began concurrent review of the applications on September 16, 2011. AR 2308-09. Between September 16 and December 15, 2011, the Department conducted a public-comment process. AR 2310-2417. The application record closed on December 15, 2011, the deadline for the applicants' rebuttal comments. AR 2308.

DaVita and NKC each are highly-regarded, high-quality providers of kidney dialysis services, with extensive experience applying for CONs to establish or expand dialysis facilities in Washington. At the time of the applications at issue, DaVita operated twenty-five dialysis facilities in Washington, and many more in forty-two other states and the District of Columbia. AR 2422. NKC operated fifteen dialysis facilities in Washington. AR 2422.

F. The Department grants DaVita's application and denies NKC's application based on the regulatory tie-breaker standards.

On February 9, 2012, the Department issued its evaluation of the DaVita and NKC applications. AR 2420-56. The Department determined that both applications would satisfy all applicable review criteria as standalone applications. Therefore, the Department applied the nine regulatory tie-breaker criteria under WAC 246-310-288. AR 2449-53.

DaVita and NKC both qualified for five of the tie-breaker points: training services, private room, permanent bed station, evening shift, and meeting need. AR 2452.

NKC also qualified for the economies of scale tie-breaker point, because the cost of adding five stations to NKC's existing facility would be less than the cost of building the new, 5-station facility proposed by DaVita. Therefore, NKC received a total of six tie-breaker points. AR 2452.

DaVita also qualified for the geographic access tie-breaker point, because its proposed facility would be at least three miles away from the next closest existing facility, as well as the provider choice tie-breaker point, because NKC was the exclusive provider of dialysis services in the planning area and DaVita's proposed facility would add a second choice of provider. Therefore, DaVita received a total of seven tie-breaker points. AR 2452.

Because DaVita prevailed under the regulatory tie-breaker criteria, seven points to six points, the Department approved DaVita's application and denied NKC's application. AR 2427.

G. In the adjudicative proceeding commenced by NKC, the Department defends its reliance upon the regulatory tiebreakers.

On March 8, 2012, NKC commenced an adjudicative proceeding

to challenge the Department's decision. AR 1-48. DaVita intervened.

AR 60-61. The HLJ conducted the requested hearing on December 5-6,

2012. AR 1191.

Karen Nidermayer, the CON Program Analyst who wrote the Department's evaluation, explained in her hearing testimony the genesis of

the tie-breaker regulation:

The Certificate of Need Program underwent an extensive rulemaking process for dialysis facilities. Participants in that rulemaking included Department of Health staff as well as representation from all of the dialysis providers in the community. And as a group, they sat down and determined what they believed would be tiebreaker points, what are important for comparing applications to each other to determine which is the better application.

AR 1414.

She testified that, from the Department's perspective, the specific tie-breaker regulation was intended to supersede the general superiority standard as the basis on which competing dialysis facility applications must be compared:

That WAC [246-310-240] was established long before the [WAC 246-310]-288 tiebreaker criteria. ... Previous to -288 ... the Program had no specific guidelines or standards that it could use to compare dialysis applications, and so 288 was created specifically for the review of applications, one or more applications for a planning area specific to dialysis.

AR 1452-53.

She also explained each of the tie-breaker points and how they were applied in this matter, resulting in the Department's determination that DaVita prevailed under the tie-breaker criteria and therefore must be awarded the CON. AR 1414-19.

When asked about NKC's argument that the Department should have determined "superiority" in this matter based on which facility is projected to receive lower reimbursement rates from commercial insurers, Ms. Nidermayer testified that the Department did not consider this alleged basis for comparison at all, because it is not one of the tie-breaker criteria adopted by the Department in regulation. AR 1423. She further explained that the Department would be unequipped, in any event, to make an accurate comparison of providers' respective commercial reimbursement rates, because rates are privately negotiated and guarded by providers as confidential, proprietary information. AR 1424. Finally, she confirmed that the Department has never attempted to conduct such an analysis. AR 1424.

H. The HLJ reverses the Department's decision, grants NKC's application, and denies DaVita's application, based on criteria other than the regulatory tie-breakers.

The HLJ identified two differences between the projects which he determined were of particular significance: (1) the difference between what it would cost NKC to add five stations to its existing facility and what it would cost DaVita to build a new, five-station facility, and (2) the difference between projected net revenue per treatment at the two facilities.

First, the HLJ found that it would cost DaVita approximately \$2 million to build its proposed new facility, whereas it would cost NKC approximately \$100,000 to add five stations to its existing facility. AR 1203. DaVita's \$2 million capital budget was not remarkable in itself. Indeed, NKC spent more than this to build its SeaTac facility. AR 1476-77. However, it was significant to the HLJ to the extent that it would cost DaVita more to build a new facility than it would cost NKC to expand its existing facility.

Lower capital expenditure is, in fact, one of the tie-breaker criteria. See WAC 246-310-288(2)(a) ("economies of scale"). Within the tiebreaker regulation, however, lower capital expenditure (favoring expansion of existing facilities) is balanced against geographic diversity of facilities and provider choice (favoring new facilities). See WAC 246-310-288(2)(c) & (d). The Department properly awarded the economies of scale tie-breaker point to NKC. AR 2458. However, the HLJ determined that lower capital costs could be used as a basis for comparison to the *exclusion* of the other tie-breaker criteria.

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