COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II 2014 DEC -9 PM 1: 17 STATE OF WASHINGTON BY\_\_\_\_\_ DEPUTY

No. 46384-9-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

# DAVITA HEALTHCARE PARTNERS INC.,

Appellant,

v.

# WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and NORTHWEST KIDNEY CENTERS,

Respondent.

# ANSWERING BRIEF OF NORTHWEST KIDNEY CENTERS

Douglas C. Ross, WSBA #12811 Lisa Rediger Hayward, WSBA #27479 Rebecca Francis, WSBA #41196 Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for Northwest Kidney Centers

Suite 2200 1201 Third Avenue Seattle, WA 98101-3045 (206) 622-3150 Phone (206) 757-7700 Fax

om 12/8/

#

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

# A. The Tie-Breakers in WAC 246-310-288 Apply if Competing Applications Meet all Four CN Criteria

DaVita admits the Department "must follow [its] own rules and regulations." DaVita Br. at 22 (quoting *Samson v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 149 Wn. App. 33, 44 (2009)). Yet DaVita urges the Court to reverse the HLJ's decision because he did precisely that: he correctly concluded (as have two other HLJs before him) that the plain language of the CN regulations requires the Department to analyze competing applications under *all four* CN criteria, including comparing applications under the cost containment criteria in -240, *before* turning to the tiebreakers in -288. CP 55 ¶ 1.2; CP 64-65 ¶¶ 1.22-1.23; CP 77-78 ¶ 1.5; AR 834-75. DaVita's appeal to the Program's supposed unwritten intent in promulgating the tie-breaker rule cannot overcome the plain language of the CN regulations. *See* DaVita Br. at 22.

## 1. The CN Statutes and Regulations Require the Cost Containment Analysis in WAC 246-310-240

DaVita agrees the Department must consider the four CN criteria in deciding whether to award a CN. DaVita Br. at 6-7; WAC 246-310-200(1)(a)-(d) & (2). The plain language of both the CN statutes and regulations requires this result.

# a. The CN Statute Requires a Comparative Cost Containment Analysis

The CN statute provides:

(2) Criteria for the review of [CN] applications ... shall include but not be limited to consideration of ...
(b) The availability of less costly or more effective alternative methods of providing such services; ...
(g) Improvements or innovations in the financing and delivery of health services which foster cost containment; [and]
(h) .... the efficiency and appropriateness of the use of

existing services and facilities similar to those proposed.

RCW 70.38.115(2)(b), (g), (h) (emphasis added). In no uncertain terms, the legislature has directed the Department to consider whether "less costly or more effective alternative methods" exist. RCW 70.38.115(2). This analysis, by its nature requires *comparing* the proposed project with "alternative methods." *Id.* DaVita cannot seriously argue otherwise, having acknowledged the term "shall" is "mandatory." DaVita Br. at 24. And in the context of competing applications (as here), the legislature has directed the Department to use "[c]oncurrent review ... for the purpose of *comparative analysis* ... to determine *which of the projects may best* meet identified needs." RCW 70.38.115(7) (emphasis added).

Reading these statutes together, as the Court must, leads to the unremarkable conclusion that the Department must *compare* competing applications against each other to determine which presents the most cost effective method of providing the needed services. *See* RCW

70.38.115(2)(b), (g), (h), (7).

# b. The CN Regulations Require a Superior Alternatives Cost Analysis

The Department has long understood this legislative mandate. Its own regulations state it "*shall*" base certificate of need determinations on "[w]hether the proposed project will foster containment of the costs of health care," and "*shall*" use the "[c]riteria contained ... in WAC ... 246-310-240 ... in making the required determinations." WAC 246-310-200(1)(b) & (2) (emphasis added); *see also* CP 78 ¶ 1.5 (quoting same). The HLJ correctly concluded that under the words of the Department's own regulations, the Department must engage in the cost containment analysis in WAC 246-310-240. CP 78 ¶ 1.5. DaVita effectively admits as much. DaVita Br. at 22 (citing WAC 246-310-200).

The cost containment regulation, WAC 246-310-240, in turn, provides, in relevant part: "A determination that a proposed project will foster cost containment *shall* be based on the following criteria: (1) Superior alternatives, in terms of cost, efficiency, or effectiveness, are not available or practicable." WAC 246-310-240(1) (emphasis added). On its face, subsection -240(1) requires the Department to compare applications to each other to determine which would be the superior alternative "in terms of cost, efficiency, or effectiveness"—not to consider the

applications in isolation. Id.; CP 64-65 ¶ 1.23; CP 78 ¶ 1.5.

Even the Program admitted -240(1) requires it to compare applications against each other. AR 1236:3-6.<sup>4</sup> The Program's admission comes as no surprise given the words of -240(1) and the directive in the CN regulations and statutes to "compare[] the applications to one another and these rules." WAC 246-310-280(3); *see also* RCW 70.38.115(7) (Department must compare "competing or similar projects"). In requiring the Department to compare applications to determine superiority, WAC 246-310-240 does *not* mention the tie-breakers in -288 or the "multi-step approach" DaVita advocates using in the place of -240. *Id.*; DaVita Br. at 12-13, 23-24, 28-29; AR 1081:15-18.

DaVita, however, argues that WAC 246-310-288 requires that in every review of competing kidney dialysis CN applications, the Department must *skip* the comparative analysis required under -240(1) and jump straight to the "tie-breakers" in -288. DaVita reaches this conclusion by reasoning that because the term "will" appears twice in WAC 246-310-288, resort to the regulation is "mandatory" in every case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> DaVita admits -240 requires comparing applications submitted by providers other than kidney dialysis centers (such as hospitals), but argues no comparison is required for dialysis applications because the Department has developed the tie-breaker rule for those applications. DaVita Br. at 29. But the words of -240 do not mean one thing for hospitals and something else for kidney dialysis centers. Those words require that the Department compare two competing applications, regardless the type of provider involved.

DaVita Br. at 24. By so urging, DaVita ignores the plain language of RCW 70.38.115(2)(b), (g), and (h), WAC 246-310-200(1)-(2), and WAC 246-310-240. DaVita Br. at 24. Each of those provisions states the Department "shall" engage in a cost containment analysis, including the comparative analysis under -240(1). RCW 70.38.115(2)(b), (g), (h); WAC 246-310-200(1)(b), (2); WAC 246-310-240; DaVita Br. at 24.

The words of -288 do not relieve the Department of this obligation. Quite the contrary: the plain language of -288 makes clear the Department can apply the tie-breakers only "*[i]f* two or more applications meet *all* applicable review criteria." WAC 246-310-288 (emphasis added). The "superior alternatives" analysis in -240(1) is one of the "review criteria." WAC 246-240(1), -288, -200(2). By its terms, -288 does not permit the Department to apply the tie-breakers if the Department finds two applications meet only *some* of the four CN criteria. *Id.* DaVita's contention the HLJ should have analyzed each application "as a standalone project" is unmoored from the words of the CN statute and regulations. DaVita Br. at 17.

Without citation to any support, DaVita also asserts the HLJ "perceived a conflict" between the tie-breaker rule in -288 and the cost containment criteria in -240. DaVita Br. at 25. Not so. The HLJ read those regulations in harmony, as DaVita admits he must. *Id.* at 33. The

HLJ recognized the Department can comply with WAC 246-310-200(1) and (2), WAC 246-310-240, *and* WAC 246-310-288 by applying these rules as written—as requiring engaging in the comparative cost containment analysis in -240 *before* turning, if necessary, to the tiebreakers in -288. CP 64-65 ¶ 1.23; CP 66-67 ¶ 1.27; CP 78 ¶ 1.5; *see also* AR 853 ¶ 2.17; AR 871-73 ¶¶ 2.14-2.15. The HLJ did not perceive a conflict and none exists. DaVita's statutory construction argument that a more recent enactment prevails over an older one therefore has no bearing here. DaVita Br. at 30. As DaVita admits, that principle applies only if an ambiguity exists *and* "there is an apparent conflict." *Id.* (quoting *Am. Legion Post #149 v. Dep't of Health*, 164 Wn.2d 570, 585-86 (2008)).

The HLJ correctly concluded he must interpret WAC 246-310-200(2), -240(1), and -288 so as "to give effect to all language in the [regulation] and to render no portion meaningless or superfluous." *Hospice of Spokane v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, 178 Wn. App. 442, 453 (2013) (affirming HLJ decision interpreting regulation as written); *see also Overlake*, 170 Wn.2d at 51-52; CP 64-65 ¶ 1.23; CP 78 ¶ 1.5; DaVita Br. at 30-32. So too should this Court. The regulations plainly require the Department to compare competing applications under -240(1) to determine which presents the superior alternative in terms of cost, efficiency, and effectiveness. Only if *both* are equal, so that neither is

"superior," may the Department invoke the tie-breakers in -288. Because the CN statute and rules are "clear and unambiguous, a court should apply [the] plain language and may not look beyond the language to consider the agency's interpretation." *Children's Hosp. & Med. Ctr. v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, 95 Wn. App. 858, 868 (1999).

The HLJ's plain-language conclusion is consistent with *Children's Hospital & Medical Center v. Department of Health*, on which DaVita relies. DaVita Br. at 22-23. There, Children's Hospital sought judicial review of the Department's letter decision that Tacoma General Hospital did not need to obtain a CN before beginning to offer pediatric cardiac surgery services. 95 Wn. App. at 861-62. The court reversed the decision because the Department's regulations stated it "shall" consider certain factors in determining whether a service is a "tertiary service" for CN review, but it failed to consider those factors. *Id.* at 868.

So too here. The regulations at issue here state the Department "shall" review CN applications for cost containment under -240, it "shall" analyze whether "superior alternatives" exist under -240(1), and it must compare competing applications to determine which best satisfies the CN criteria. WAC 246-310-200(1)(b) & (2); WAC 246-310-240; WAC 246-310-280(3); *see also* RCW 70.38.115(2)(b), (g), (7). Only "[i]f two or more applications meet all applicable review criteria," may the

Department turn to the tie-breakers in -288. WAC 246-310-288. As in *Children's*, the CN Program here did *not* compare the two applications under the predicate criteria in -240, and it never engaged in the "superior alternatives" analysis required under -240(1). AR 1447:23-1451:4; AR 2447-48. Instead, it tumbled right to the tie-breakers in -288. Because the Program did not consider the threshold -240 factors, the HLJ properly reversed the Program's decision.

# 2. The HLJ's Plain Language Interpretation Comports with Prior HLJ Orders

Two other HLJs have reached the same conclusion as did HLJ Lockhart here. In *In re Puget Sound Kidney Centers*, Master Case No. M2008-118753 (Feb. 27, 2009), Puget Sound Kidney Centers submitted a CN application to expand an existing kidney dialysis station by ten stations, while DaVita proposed to build a new facility at a higher cost. AR 835, 839 ¶ 1.4. In the concurrent review process, the Program refused to compare the applications under -240(1). Instead, the Program invoked the tie-breakers in -288, just as it did here. AR 843 ¶ 1.16. HLJ Mace reversed, explaining:

The plain language of WAC 246-310-240(1) requires a comparison and determination whether concurrent applications may be superior to each other. To substitute the WAC 246-310-288 tie-breaker analysis for the required comparison of applications under WAC 246-310-200 and WAC 246-310-240(1), is to stand the review process on its

head and nullify the importance of judging applications on the four basic review criteria established by the rule.

AR 853-54 ¶ 2.18.

Similarly, in In re Central Washington, Master Case No. M2008-

118469 (Apr. 15, 2009), HLJ Kuntz found the Program erred when it

failed to compare Central Washington's CN application against DaVita's and instead imported into -240 the tie-breakers in -288. AR 863 ¶ 1.4, 867

 $\P$  2.3. The HLJ explained that even after -288's enactment in 2007:

[T]he Program *still retains the duty to compare* the two applications against each other, pursuant to the superior alternative language set forth in WAC 246-310-240(1). The Program *must* determine if one application is a superior alternative to the other.

AR 872 ¶ 2.14 (emphasis added).

This Court, as *three* HLJs (and the Superior Court, RP 5:6-7:9) now have done, also should interpret WAC 246-310-200, -240, and -288 as written and should conclude the HLJ correctly compared NKC's and DaVita's applications to determine which would be superior in terms of cost, efficiency, and effectiveness under -240. AR 1202-04, 1376-77. Even DaVita, in its comments in support of its CN application, acknowledged the cost containment criterion requires this comparative

review. See AR 2335 (arguing its application was superior to NKC's).

#### 3. DaVita's Arguments Lack Merit

#### a. The Program's Alleged Unwritten Intent Is Irrelevant

DaVita contends the Court should reverse because although not reflected in the language of WAC 246-310-200(2), -240, or -288, the Program's alleged unwritten intent, according to DaVita, was to replace -240 with the tie-breakers in -288 for concurrent kidney dialysis review. DaVita Br. at 7-10, 27-29. But because the plain language of WAC 246-310-200(2), -240, and -288 is clear and unambiguous, the Program's supposed unwritten intent is irrelevant. DaVita Br. at 25-33. "[W]hen faced with an unambiguous regulation, [as here], the court may *not* speculate as to the intent of the regulation or add words to the regulation." *Children's Hosp.*, 95 Wn. App. at 869 n.19 (emphasis added) (quoting *MultiCare Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 114 Wn.2d 572, 591 (1990)); *see also Bravern Residential*, 334 P.3d at 1186 (court must give effect to regulation's plain meaning).

If the Program had wanted the tie-breakers in -288 to replace the cost containment criteria in -240 for every concurrent kidney dialysis review, it should have revised WAC 246-310-200(2) and -240 to so state, and it should not have made -288 contingent on both applications satisfying "all review criteria." *Cf. Mahoney v. Shinpoch*, 107 Wn.2d 679,

685 (1987) ("[I]f the Legislature had wanted to mandate [a result], it would have used express language to that effect."). If the Program now wants to make these rule changes, it must do so through the normal rulemaking process. *See Erringer v. Thompson*, 371 F.3d 625, 635 (9th Cir. 2004) (agency must promulgate rule amending legislative rule "under notice and comment rulemaking").

# b. The CN Law's Access Goal Does Not Support Reversal

For the same reason—the rules at issue here are unambiguous this Court need not consider whether the legislature intended to prefer access concerns over cost containment in the CN law. *Children's Hosp.*, 95 Wn. App. at 869 n.19 (quoting *MultiCare*, 114 Wn.2d at 591); DaVita Br. at 26-27. When, as here, the language of the rules is plain, the rule "is not open to construction or interpretation." *Green River Cmty. Coll., Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Educ. Personnel Bd.*, 95 Wn.2d 108, 113 (1981).

Even if the Court were to consider the legislature's policy objectives in the CN law, it should still reject DaVita's arguments. DaVita complains the HLJ only considered cost control, not access. DaVita Br. at 27. According to DaVita, that is inconsistent with the CN law because in *Overlake*, the Washington Supreme Court described cost containment as a "secondary" policy goal to access. *Id.* DaVita's argument, however,

challenges the HLJ's evidentiary decisions, *not* the HLJ's plain reading of WAC 246-310-200(2), -240, and -288. *See id.* The HLJ correctly focused on cost because "*[n]o evidence* of improvements in care was offered at the hearing"—DaVita presented no evidence its project would improve access while NKC's would not. CP 79 ¶ 1.8 (emphasis added). As the HLJ explained, "there is *nothing* in the Application Record in this case to demonstrate that DaVita's project would [increase the quality of the health services in the planning area]." CP 67 ¶ 1.27 (emphasis added). Indeed, the Program analyst admitted she did not consider whether DaVita's location would be closer to patients than NKC's. AR 1459-61. Even DaVita admitted the record contained no evidence to support its claim its facility would promote access. AR 1708.

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